
Page 1 of 2 
FOC Meeting Agenda 07-21-2016 

SONOMA COUNTY OPEN SPACE 
FISCAL OVERSIGHT COMMISSION 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

Mike Sangiacomo (Sonoma)     Bob Anderson (Healdsburg) 
Todd Mendoza (Petaluma)                                                                                                     Eric Koenigshofer (Occidental)   
Dee Swanhuyser (Sebastopol)                  Jeff Owen (Alternate) 
                        

Regular Meeting 
747 Mendocino Avenue – Suite 100, Santa Rosa, CA 95401 

July 21, 2016   5:00 pm 
 

AGENDA 
 

   1.  Call to Order. 
 
   2.  Agenda Items to be Held or Taken Out of Order; Off-Agenda Items. 

 
        3.  General Announcements Not Requiring Deliberation or Decision. 

 
        4.  Public Comment. 

      The Brown Act requires that time be set aside for public comment on items not agendized. 
 

        5.  Correspondence/Communication. 
 
        6.   Approval of Commission Minutes.         [Attachment 1] 
 
        7.  Financial Report.           [Attachment 2] 
 
    8. Ad Hoc Committee Reports.   

• Annual Report/Audit Report Review (Anderson, Swanhuyser)    
• Matching Grant Program (Owen, Swanhuyser)  
• Finances (Owen, Sangiacomo) 
• Review of County Services (Mendoza, Koenigshofer)  
• Management Review Recommendations (Anderson, Koenigshofer)  
• Stewardship (Mendoza, Sangiacomo) 

       
        9. SMART Matching Grant Agreement.       [Attachment 3] 
 
     10.  Pole Mountain Initial Public Access, Operation and Maintenance   [Attachment 4] 
 
     11.  Cooley Ranch Public Outings Update       [Attachment 5]            
 
     12.  Suggested Next Meeting.      August 11, 2016  
 
     13.  Adjournment. 
 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 2 
FOC Meeting Agenda 07-21-2016  

 
 
 
   

In compliance with Government Code §54954.2(a), the Sonoma County Open Space Fiscal Oversight 
Commission will, on request, make this agenda available in appropriate alternative formats to persons 
with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the ADA of 1990 (42 U.S.C. §12132), and the Federal 
rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. Individuals who need this agenda in another 
format or need a disability-related modification or accommodation should contact Sue Jackson at 
707.565.7346 at least 72 hours prior to the meeting to ensure arrangements for accommodation. 
Pursuant to Government Code § 54957.5, a copy of all documents related to an item on this agenda 
submitted to the Fiscal Oversight Commission may be obtained from the Fiscal Oversight Commission 
office, 747 Mendocino Avenue, Santa Rosa, CA 95401. 



Fiscal Oversight Commission Unapproved Minutes 06.02.16                                      Attachment 1                                  
                                                                                                                             
   

SONOMA COUNTY OPEN SPACE 
   FISCAL OVERSIGHT COMMISSION 

 

COMMISSIONERS 
Mike Sangiacomo (Sonoma)                     Bob Anderson (Healdsburg)     
Todd Mendoza (Petaluma)            Eric Koenigshofer (Occidental) 
Dee Swanhuyser (Sebastopol)                           Jeff Owen (Alternate) 

 
 

UNAPPROVED  
Minutes for the Meeting of June 2, 2016 

 
Commissioners Present:  Bob Anderson, Chair; Todd Mendoza, Vice-Chair; Dee Swanhuyser, Chair 
Pro Tem (4:16 pm arrival); Eric Koenigshofer (5:05 pm arrival); Jeff Owen, Alternate. 
        
Staff Present: Bill Keene, General Manager; Lisa Pheatt, Counsel; Mary Dodge, Administrative and 
Fiscal Services Manager; Christine Minkel, Administrative Aide to the Commission (4:45 pm arrival); 
Sue Jackson, Deputy Clerk/Recorder. 
  
1.      Call to Order.       
         Commissioner Anderson called the meeting to order at 4:16 pm.  
 
2.      Agenda Items to be Held or Taken Out of Order; Off Agenda Items. 
         There were none. 
 
3.      General Announcements Not Requiring Deliberation or Decision. 
          Mr. Keene made the following announcements: 

• On May 10, 2016, the District presented a Conservation Easement Workshop to the 
Board of Directors which included an update on the Acquisition Program and focused 
on conservation easement acquisitions. 

• On May 24, 2016, the District presented an update of the Conservation Planning 
program to the Board of Directors. 

• On June 14, 2016, the District will present the NBS Government Finance Group Open 
Space Easement Fee Study to the Board of Directors. The District is requesting 
authorization to amend an existing agreement to perform a fee study related to 
monitoring Open Space Easements. 

Commissioner Swanhuyser announced her receipt of letters from six cities in support of 
Community Separators: City of Petaluma, Town of Windsor, City of Healdsburg, City of 
Sebastopol, City of Cloverdale, and the City of Cotati. Petaluma, Windsor and Sebastopol 
stated support specifically for the purchase by the District of open spaces in community 
separators. (The letters are available for viewing at the District office.)          

 
4.       Public Comment. 
 There was none. 
 
 



Fiscal Oversight Commission Unapproved Minutes 06.02.16                                      Attachment 1                                  
                                                                                                                             
   

 
5.      Correspondence/Communication. 

There was none. 
 

6.    Approval of Commission Minutes. 
On a motion by Alternate Commissioner Owen and second by Commissioner Swanhuyser, the 
minutes of May 5, 2016 were approved as submitted. 

 
7.       Financial Report. 

The commissioners reviewed the financial report prepared by Mary Dodge, Administrative 
and Fiscal Services Manager.  
 

8. Commission Study Session on 2016 Priorities. 
Commission Chair Anderson led a discussion of the Commissions priorities for 2016. The 
Chairman’s List of Topics and a summary of the discussion is available on request. 

  
9. Suggested Next Meeting.  Special Meeting to be held on July 21, 2016 @ 5:00 pm. 
 
10. Adjournment. 

On a motion by Commissioner Swanhuyser and second by Alternate Commissioner 
Swanhuyser, the meeting was adjourned at 6:35 pm. 

 
  
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Sue Jackson 
Deputy Clerk   



sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



sjackson
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



ATTACHMENT 3 
1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
DATE:  June 27, 2016 (Meeting July 21, 2016) 
TO:   Fiscal Oversight Commissioners 
FROM:  Stuart Martin, Land Acquisition Specialist 
SUBJECT: SMART Pathway Hearn to Bellevue Segment Matching Grant Project 
 
Summary 
The SMART Pathway Hearn to Bellevue Matching Grant Project will develop a .8 mile long by 12 
foot wide public pathway within the SMART railroad right of way in Southwest Santa Rosa. The 
pathway will run parallel to the train tracks, and will be a segment of a 70 mile pathway along 
the entire SMART railroad right of way in Sonoma and Marin Counties. The SMART pathway will 
also connect to existing pathways. The District will hold a Conservation Easement and 
Recreation Covenant over the pathway. The District will also enter into a Matching Grant 
Agreement with SMART.  
 
Background 
The District recommended partial funding in the amount of $282,760 for the SMART matching 
grant in the 2011-12 cycle. The District’s Board of Directors approved the project for inclusion in 
the Matching Grant Program on September 18, 2012. Since that approval, the District has 
worked with the SMART to finalize the agreements while SMART was arranging for various 
regulatory permits and mitigation to construct the pathway. 
 
SMART receives sales tax funding for a commuter train and adjacent pathway in Sonoma and 
Marin Counties, and anticipated that the sales tax revenue would not be enough to cover the 
entire project and therefore, SMART is applying for grants to ensure completion of the entire 
project. 
 
This is the first segment of the pathway that SMART is proposing to construct. The pathway is 
between, and is accessed from, the Hearn Avenue and Bellevue Avenue railroad crossings. 
Pathway users will have occasional vistas of Taylor Mountain to the east. Regional Parks has 
already constructed the next segment north, which provides a connection to the Joe Rodota 
Trail and the Prince Memorial Greenway. Finally, it will also provide a future connection to the 
nearest SMART station north in Santa Rosa’s Railroad Square.  
 
SMART Hearn to Bellevue Matching Grant Project 
The SMART pathway matching grant will fund the development of .8 miles of multi-use 
pathway within the railroad right of way. Improvements will include a rock base and then 



ATTACHMENT 3 
2 

 

paving the pathway, signage, and safety features. The District’s funding will be used entirely 
toward construction of the trail. 
 
The District will receive a Conservation Easement and Recreation Covenant which will only 
cover the pathway, not the rest of the railroad right of way. The Conservation Easement will 
limit the use of the pathway to non-motorized multi-use public outdoor recreation compatible 
with the open space values of the property. The Recreation Covenant requires that the pathway 
be operated and maintained and remain open to the public in perpetuity. The District will also 
enter into a Matching Grant Agreement with SMART to spell out the conditions for the 
matching grant funding.  
  
Project Match and Timeframe 
As required under the Matching Grant Program Guidelines, the Matching Grant Agreement 
obliges SMART to provide a match of $282,760 which will be comprised of funding from the 
State of California Enhanced Environmental Mitigation Program (EEMP) funds, and Measure Q 
sales tax funds. An additional $540,000 will be spent by SMART in non-match costs for a total 
project cost of $1,501,680. 
 
SMART’s match will be used to complete the final design documents, construction, and 
permitting. According to SMART’s Work Plan, the trail will be open to the public by the end of 
2016. 
   
SMART Matching Grant Project Estimated Budget 
 
Task District Funding Match Funding Total Cost 
Final Design - $60,996 $60,996 
Construction $282,760 $467,924 $750,684 
Permits  $150,000 $150,000 
TOTAL $282,760 $678,920 $961,680 
 
District Acquisition Plan: Connecting Communities and the Land 
The project furthers objective and policies in the District’s Acquisition plan by: 

• working with partners to provide recreational regional trail connections between urban 
areas working with partners to expand multi-use trail linkages between communities 
along publically owned rights of way. 

 
District Expenditure Plan 
The grant is consistent with the District’s Expenditure Plan, specifically regarding other open 
space projects, including urban open space and recreation projects within and near 
incorporated areas and other urbanized areas of the county. 



ATTACHMENT 3 
3 

 

 
 
 
SMART Master Plan 
On June 24, 2009 the SMART Board of Directors adopted a Strategic Plan which included the 
development of a multi-use, bicycle/pedestrian pathway and associated improvements along 
the SMART rail corridor. 
 
Fair Market Value Determination 
The Fiscal Oversight Commission is being requested to determine that the District is not paying 
more than fair market value for the Conservation Easement and Recreation Covenant interests 
being acquired. Because this is a development project, these interests in real property are being 
granted to the District by SMART as a condition of awarding the matching grant funds, and are 
therefore not being purchased.  
 
Recommendation 
District staff recommend that the Commission adopt a resolution determining that the 
acceptance of the Conservation Easement and Recreation Covenant as a condition of the 
proposed Matching Grant for pathway development, does not exceed the fair market of such 
interests. 
 

 



RESOLUTION NO.: 2016-_____ 
 

DATED: July 21, 2016 
 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE SONOMA COUNTY OPEN SPACE FISCAL 
OVERSIGHT COMMISSION DETERMINING THAT THE DISTRICT IS NOT PAYING MORE, OR RECEIVING 
LESS, THAN THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE INTERESTS SO RECEIVED  
 
 WHEREAS, by virtue of the contract dated December 7, 2010, between the County of Sonoma 
and the Sonoma County Agricultural Preservation and Open Space District ("the District") and Sonoma 
County Board of Supervisors Resolution No. 10-0832 dated December 7, 2010, this Board of 
Commissioners is required to review each proposed District acquisition or conveyance in order to 
determine whether the District would be paying more or receiving less than fair market value for the 
open space interests being acquired or conveyed; and 
 

WHEREAS, SMART applied to the District’s 2011-12 Matching Grant Program and was accepted 
with a recommendation for pathway development funding of $282,760 by the District’s Board of 
Directors on September 18, 2012, for the SMART Pathway Hearn to Bellevue Segment Matching Grant 
Project; and 

 
 WHEREAS, as a condition of the Matching Grant Project, SMART is conveying a Conservation 
Easement and a Recreation Covenant over the pathway to the District, and entering into a Matching 
Grant Agreement; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the District’s General Manager is proposing to recommend to the District Board of 
Directors a matching grant subject to the recordation of (1) a Conservation Easement generally limiting 
the use of the Property to public outdoor recreation compatible with the open space values of the 
Property and (2) a Recreation Covenant obligating SMART to operate and maintain the Property for 
public outdoor recreation in perpetuity.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that this Board of Commissioners hereby finds, determines, 
declares and orders as follows: 
 

1.  Truth of Recitals.  The foregoing recitals are true and correct. 
 

2.  Fair Market Value.  This Commission is satisfied that by accepting the Conservation Easement 
and Recreation Covenant as a condition of providing funding for the development of recreational 
improvements on the SMART Hearn to Bellevue segment pathway, the District is not paying more or 
receiving less than the fair market value for the interests so received.   
 
 
COMMISSIONERS: 
   
 AYES:              NOES:                 ABSTAIN:                  ABSENT: _           
 



1 
Pole Mountain Funding Agreement 
Fiscal Oversight Commission Meeting July 21, 2016                                                                         ATTACHMENT 4 

 
 
 
 
DATE:  July 15, 2016 (Meeting July 21, 2016) 
 
TO:  Fiscal Oversight Commissioners 
 
FROM:  Sara Press, Land Acquisition Associate 
 
SUBJECT: Pole Mountain Funding Agreement  
 
 
Summary 
The District acquired a conservation easement and recreation covenant over the 238-acre Pole 
Mountain property in June 30, 2014. The acquisition was simultaneous to Sonoma Land Trust’s 
acquisition of the property. The conservation easement restricts use of the property to natural 
resource protection and public recreation and education.   
 
The recreation covenant requires the property be open to the public for low-intensity outdoor 
public recreation and educational uses consistent with the conservation easement. Sonoma 
Land Trust intends to link recreational opportunities on the property with the adjacent Jenner 
Headlands and Little Black Mountain Preserve via hiking; there is no public access via motorized 
vehicles. The recreation covenant requires that at such time that the Jenner Headlands 
property becomes open to the general public, or an alternative route for public access to the 
property becomes available, SLT will make the property available for public hiking, picnicking 
and nature study.   
 
At the time of acquisition, Sonoma Land Trust (SLT) requested funds from the District for initial 
public access and operations and maintenance activities for the first three years of property 
ownership. This request was brought to the Commission on May 2, 2014. Subsequently, SLT 
withdrew the request as the organization wanted to focus first on conducting site assessments 
to better understand the condition of the natural resources, the varying habitat types, the 
location of sensitive resources, and the condition of the existing infrastructure such as roads, 
fencing, water, and other improvements in preparation for developing a management plan.   
 
Now that SLT has conducted site assessments and is more familiar with the property, it is 
requesting $46,500 for specific initial public access and operations and maintenance (IPAOM) 
activities, as detailed below and in the attached budget. The funds would be expended by June 
30, 2017. Consistent with the District’s Expenditure Plan and its Initial Public Access and 
Operations and Maintenance Policy, the District may provide funding, on a reimbursement 



2 
Pole Mountain Funding Agreement 
Fiscal Oversight Commission Meeting July 21, 2016                                                                         ATTACHMENT 4 

basis, to assist in providing initial public access and with operations and maintenance on 
recreational properties purchased with the open space sales tax.   
 
As shown in the table below, after accounting for both anticipated IPAOM revenue and known 
IPAOM expenditures for FY 16-17, there will be $1,771,937 in the IPAOM fund balance. The 
District anticipates additional requests for IPAOM funds for at least another three properties 
this fiscal year: Stewarts Point Ranch, Kashia Coastal Reserve, and Carrington Ranch.  
 



3 
Pole Mountain Funding Agreement 
Fiscal Oversight Commission Meeting July 21, 2016                                                                         ATTACHMENT 4 

Initial Public Access and Operations and Maintenance Fund Status 
Beginning reserve balance as of July 1, 2015 $2,573,437 
3rd Qtr FY 15-16 Estimated 10% Revenue $2,080,000 
3rd Qtr FY 15-16 Estimated Expenditures  (2,916,500) 
   Net Cost      (836,500) 
   Estimated FY 15-16 Fund Balance $1,736,937 
  
Budgeted FY 16-17 10% Revenue $2,132,000 
Budgeted FY 16-17 Expenditures  (2,097,000) 
   Net Cost          35,000 
   Budgeted FY 16-17 Fund Balance  $1,771,937 
 
Funding Agreement 
In order to receive District funding, the District and Sonoma Land Trust will execute a Funding 
Agreement that specifies the types of costs that are eligible for reimbursement. As shown in 
more detail on the attached table, Sonoma Land Trust is requesting funding for: 

• Access point gates and fencing 
• Access amenities 
• Visitor safety and patrolling 
• Guided outings 
• Grant implementation 

 
No reimbursement will occur until Sonoma Land Trust submits, and the District approves, a 
Work Plan that more specifically describes the work and costs associated with these activities.   
 
Property Background 
At 2,204 feet, Pole Mountain, located north of Jenner, is the highest point on the Sonoma 
Coast. The 238-acre Pole Mountain property is the primary wildlife corridor connection 
between the adjacent 5,630-acre Jenner Headlands to the south and the 500-acre Little Black 
Mountain Preserve to the north. Pole Mountain lies within the Russian River watershed, 
contains the headwaters of three important salmonid streams, and is home to one of the last 
remaining volunteer fire lookouts in the state. The property consists of oak savannah, oak 
woodlands, open grassland, hardwood/coniferous forests, serpentine outcroppings, wetlands, 
ponds, seeps and streams with large woody debris and associated native riparian habitat. The 
range in topography, elevations and habitat provide variability for adapting to the effects of 
climate change.  
 
The property is intended to be a recreational destination point from the planned public access 
trailhead on the Jenner Headlands, offering the public the ability to traverse from the Pacific 
Ocean coastline, through multiple habitat types, to the highest peak along the Sonoma County 
coast. 
 
Next Steps 
District staff will bring the funding agreement to the Board of Directors on September 13 for 
consideration. Any comments by the Commissioners will be brought forward to the Board at 
that time. 



Item Cost Qty Total Notes
Develop access points
Pedestrian Walk Gate at Jenner Headlands Entrance $500 1 $500 Prevent gate from being left open; protect road/manage cattle.
Pedestrian Walk Gate West Muniz Ranch Pole Mtn Entrance $500 1 $500 Prevent gate from being left open; protect road/manage cattle.
Improved fencing and ped gate at both Little Black Mtn ridges $5,000 2 $10,000 Address safety issues from downed barbed wire for ongoing OTL hikes.

$11,000
Signage
Entrance sign at Jenner Headlands/Pole Mtn border $5,000 1 $5,000 Boundary, Acknowledgement Sign, Rules
Trail signs (post/arrow) incl. installation $250 2 $500 8"x8"x6'Redwood Posts with trail arrow sign (TWC template)
Summit interpretive sign (design; fabrication/installation) $7,500 1 $7,500 Summit info; natural history; acknowledgements

$13,000
Public Access Amenities at Pole Mountain Summit
Picnic tables & benches at summit and nearby ridges $750 4 $3,000 Probation camp purchase; with delivery
Portapotty enclosure $3,000 1 $3,000 To anchor unit from strong wind
Lookout cabinet, safety supplies, phone $5,000 1 $5,000 Emergency call box station with safety supplies and water

$11,000
Visitor Safety and Patrolling
Safety Patrolling (Apr-June 2017) $150 26 $3,900 $150/visit; 2x/wk ($1,200/month); SLT or TWC staff time
Safety meetings with emergency response personnel $50 20 $1,000 5 staff; 4 hours for meeting and follow up

$4,900
Staff Time
Grant implementation - site preparation activities $50 80 $4,000 Coordination of signage, gates, phone cabinet; picnic tables.
OTL outings at Pole Mountain $1,300 2 $2,600 Two guided outings from Little Black Mountain, fall 2016

$6,600
TOTAL $46,500

Pole Mountain Initial Public Access and Operations & Maintenance

sjackson
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 4



ATTACHMENT 5 

 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
Date:    July 15, 2016     (Meeting July 21, 2016) 
To:    Fiscal Oversight Commission  
From:    Sheri Emerson, Stewardship Program Manager 
Re:    Cooley Ranch Outings 
 
 
The District’s Board of Directors approved the acquisition of a conservation easement over the 
19,064-acre Cooley Ranch property for $6,000,000.  The easement document states: 
 

“8. Public Access to the Property.  
 
GRANTOR shall allow public access to the property no less than six times 
per year for public outdoor recreational and/or educational opportunities 
provided that such access: 
 

A. Does not impair the conservation purpose of this agreement; 
 
B. Is organized and supervised by a non-profit organization qualified 
to conduct such activities; and 
 
C. Is scheduled in a manner that does not unreasonably interfere 
with other allowed uses of the property and seasonal/natural 
constraints. 

 
Other than as provided for in this Paragraph 8, nothing contained in this 
Agreement shall be construed as granting, permitting, or affording to the 
public access to any portion of the Property. Nothing in this Agreement 
shall be construed to preclude GRANTOR'S right to grant access to third 
parties across the Property, provided that such access is allowed in a 
reasonable manner and is consistent with the conservation purpose of this 
Agreement.” 

 



ATTACHMENT 5 

At the time of the acquisition, $210,000 was set aside from the purchase price (held in a fund 
managed by the Open Space Authority) to support public outings at the property. At the start of 
Measure F in April of 2011, management of this fund was transferred to the County of Sonoma.  
The Commission recently requested additional information about this fund and the outings that 
it supports.    
 
The District currently budgets $10,000 per year towards outings at Cooley Ranch, which are 
supported in part by annual interest earnings from the fund.    
 
In November of 2015, the District executed a contract with LandPaths (Attachment 1), 
specifically to provide a series of public camping outings at the Cooley Ranch property, for 
$17,985, for a term of two years. Two camping outings have been completed so far during the 
contract term, one of which was the Spanish-language Vamos Afuera camping outing in May of 
2016.   
 
In July of 2014, the District solicited a Request for Proposals for the 2014-17 Agricultural and 
Conservation Education Program seeking the expertise of highly qualified organizations with 
longstanding relationships in diverse local communities to deliver services. The District received 
a total of four proposals, all of which ranked high in the selection process. Each proposed a 
diverse, yet balanced, approach to community engagement through agricultural and 
environmental education, utilized a variety of partners, and offered innovative in-depth 
programming to a specific audience or population including at-risk youth, E.S.L. (English as a 
Second Language) students, young adults, ranchers and farmers, underserved groups, and 
Latino families. The District decided to partner with all four providers for portions of the 
Program, one of which was LandPaths. Four separate contracts were initiated, with terms from 
October 2014 through June 2017.  

In June of 2011, a contract with LandPaths was approved by the Board (Attachment 2) for 
$42,874 for a term of July 1, 2011 through June 30, 2014. This contract supported the 
continuation of work completed by LandPaths in partnership with the landowner, Crawford 
Cooley, including hikes, campouts, horseback and mountain bike rides, and tracking classes to a 
broad diversity of Sonoma County residents. Mr. Cooley provided a letter in May of 2011 
(included in the attachment) in support of the contract with LandPaths. 
 
 
Attachments: 

4-A Current Agreement for Consulting Services (Cooley Ranch Public Access Series) 
between the District and LandPaths, dated November 6, 2015. 

4-B District Board of Directors summary report (Cooley Ranch Public Outings  
Contract), dated June 7, 2011, including a May 23, 2011 letter from Crawford 
Cooley. 



sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 5-A

















































sjackson
Typewritten Text

sjackson
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 5-B






	AGENDA 07.21.16
	SONOMA COUNTY OPEN SPACE
	FISCAL OVERSIGHT COMMISSION

	Attachment 1 FOC Unapproved Minutes 06-02-16
	SONOMA COUNTY OPEN SPACE

	Attachment 2 Financial Report
	Attachment 3 SMART Hearn to Bellevue FOC Memo
	Attachment 3 SMART H to B- FOC reso 6.27.16
	Attachment 4 FOC staff report 7-21-16_Pole
	Pole Mountain IPAOM Budget
	IPAOM

	Attachment 5 Staff Memo.Emerson FOC 
	1_973 Fully Executed Agreement
	Landpaths 973.1
	Landpaths.2
	Landpaths.3

	BOD Report



